STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred in refusing jury instructions as to simple assault against a law enforcement officer in Count I;
- II. The trial court erred in refusing jury instructions which presented Mr. Babb's theory of defense, thus depriving him of his fundamental right to mount a meaningful defense, and
- III. The evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to support the jury verdict of aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings Below

A grand jury of the 2nd Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, indicted Johnny Robert Babb for three counts of aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-7 (1972) in Cause No. 06-5032. CP 1. A jury empanelled on November 6, 2006 heard two days of testimony and on November 7, convicted Mr. Babb of two counts of aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer and one count of simple assault against a law enforcement officer, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-7(1) (1972) T. 177-178; 201-202; RE 11-13; CP 43-45. The trial court ordered a pre-sentence investigation and on September 24, 2007, the trial court sentenced Mr. Babb to thirty (30) years each on Counts 1 and 2, as well as five (5) years on Count 3, all to be served consecutively in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. CP 58-60; RE 14-16; T. 201-202.

Mr. Babb timely filed *Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative, a New Trial*, which was denied. CP 61-64; RE 17. Upon denial of his post-trial motion, Mr. Babb appealed his conviction and sentence to this honorable Court.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a story of tragedy and loss, of a husband and father unable to provide for his wife and young son with Downs Syndrome, of a man in chronic pain due to a degenerative spinal condition, of one who turned to violence in anger and frustration in the haze of pain in which he found himself.

On the evening of March 26, 2006, Hinds County Sheriff's deputies were called on a suspected domestic violence call to 1335 Nobles Drive, the residence of Johnny Robert and Vivian Babb. T.96. Three deputies initially responded: Sgt. Lynn Butler and deputies Casey Dennis and Deborah Bailey. T.96.

Butler, sergeant on the midnight shift, arrived as Dennis and Bailey were walking with Vivian Babb, wife to Mr. Babb, back to their mobile home. T.96-97. Butler testified that Dennis started up the steps to the small porch at the front door of the home, when Mr. Babb opened the door, "issued some superlatives" about leaving the premises, then shut and locked the door. T. 98-99.

Deputies sought to make it appear as though they had left, in hopes Mr. Babb would come out. T. 123. When he did not do so, Mrs. Babb produced a door key and Dennis, Butler and Bailey gained entry through the locked front door. T. 123. Upon entry, a very agitated Mr. Babb again told the deputies to leave his property, so Deputy Dennis (who did not testify at trial) sprayed pepper spray in Mr. Babb's face as he held his son in his arms. T. 123. Mr. Babb then came at the deputies with a six-inch hunting knife, his son still in his arms, Butler testified. T. 123. While Mr. Babb had the knife in his hand when deputies entered, he did not come toward them with the knife until after Deputy Dennis sprayed him with Mace used to induce him to drop the knife, Butler acknowledged during cross examination. T. 124.

After spraying Mr. Babb and his five-year-old son, Chance, with Mace, Butler testified he, Dennis and Bailey, followed by Mrs. Babb, made their way into the mobile home living room. T. 109-110. As they did so, Mr. Babb made "slashing motions" with his knife to keep them at bay. Butler testified Dennis was to his right and both were trying to advance on Mr. Babb with a knife and his son in his hands. At this point, something like a "sword" fight erupted in the Babb living room among Butler, Dennis and Mr. Babb. T. 108-109; 123-124. Dennis had a metal baton with which he struck Mr. Babb between elbow and wrist, then on shoulder, in order to get him to drop the knife. T. 113-114. Butler testified he used a "slapper" nearly an inch thick piece of leather with steel shot on the inside, a weapon not issued for use by the Sheriff's Office. T. 124.

As the confusion ensued, Mr. Babb variously accused deputies of breaking into his home (T. 108; 126). Lieutenant Maldonado and Deputy Keith Henderson also testified that Mr. Babb shouted "kill me, kill me," or warned officers they would have to kill him before taking him to jail. T. 140; 147. Butler, Maldonado and Henderson all testified that Mr. Babb was extremely agitated, irate or hostile. T. 108; 125; 147.

During this altercation, as Mr. Babb "slashed" the advancing deputies, Butler testified Mr. Babb hit the tip end of the back side of the knife blade against Butler's neck, cutting him. T. 112. Butler testified he was moving backward, trying to step out of Mr. Babb's way. T. 112.

Afterwards, Mr. Babb took his son and sat on the living room couch; the child had caught some of the pepper spray in his face and his face was beginning to burn. Mrs. Babb got a washcloth and Mr. Babb attempted to wipe the caustic substance, an effort which only worsened the effects. T. 115. The deputies told Mr. Babb he would have to wash the substance off, and after accusing the deputies of lying, Mr. Babb took his son down the hallway to the bathroom. T. 116.

At this point, Lt. Maldonado, evening shift supervisor, arrived on the scene. T. 133. Maldonado, trained as a hostage negotiator, went down the hallway with Dennis and Butler behind him. T. 134. Mr. Babb was standing in the hallway, holding his screaming child. T. 135. Maldonado testified he told Mr. Babb he needed to come out, at which Mr. Babb began to curse Maldonado, all the while using his knife "to jig at me." T. 136-137. Mr. Babb was trying to put his son in the bathroom because the child had Mace on his face; his mood "would go up and down," Maldonado testified. T. 138. Mr. Babb shouted "kill me, kill me" and Maldonado testified he drew his weapon but did not fire because of the boy's presence. T. 140.

Deputy Keith Henderson next arrived on the scene, summoned by Maldonado, and assumed primary negotiation duties. T. 138; 146. Mr. Babb was "pretty irate" when Henderson

arrived, standing before his bedroom door with the knife still in his hand. T. 147. When Henderson assured Mr. Babb that deputies were not there to arrest him, he told Henderson of a chronic back problem that prevented him from working and how he could no longer deal with the chronic pain. T. 149; 152. Henderson testified Mr. Babb was no longer hostile and appeared "to really want help." T. 150. Henderson quickly arranged for an ambulance to take Mr. Babb to the hospital. After speaking briefly with his wife, Mr. Babb laid the knife down on a chest of drawers, sat down on the bed and cried. T. 150-151. His son, Chance, was asleep in the bed beside him.

Deputies were waiting to arrest Mr. Babb upon his release from the hospital. T. 128.

At the sentencing nearly a year later, the trial court sentenced Mr. Babb to the maximum incarceration on all three charges, to be served concurrently.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Babb argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his request for jury instructions which permitted the jury to consider the lesser offense of simple assault on a law enforcement officer and his proffered theory of defense, that of accident, to the assault claimed in Count I of the indictment. In rejecting Mr. Babb's request for an instruction (D-9) on accidental injury to Sgt. Butler, the trial court cited a lack of an "affirmative" showing of accident, thereby demonstrating clearly on the record that he failed to perceive the correct standard.

Mr. Babb also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction as to Count II of the indictment, establishing beyond a reasonable doubt he had the requisite intent to "knowingly" and "purposefully" sought to inflict injury upon Sgt. Lynn Butler and Deputy Casey Dennis. The Court has available to it the direct remand rule, by which it could either reverse and remand for a new trial or reverse and remand for re-sentencing as to simple assault on a law enforcement officer.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in refusing jury instructions D-7 and D-8 as to simple assault against a law enforcement officer in Count I;
- II. The trial court erred in refusing jury instruction D-9 which presented Mr. Babb's theory of defense, thus depriving him of his fundamental right to mount a meaningful defense, and

Denial of a lesser offense instruction (No. I)

Our law guarantees to all citizens certain fundamental rights, even in the most dire of criminal proceedings, to assure a fair and just result. Those fundamental rights were denied here to Johnny Robert Babb, in that the trial court not only refused to permit instruction of the jury as to a lesser offense of simple assault against a law enforcement officer as to Sgt. Lynn Butler (Count I), but also refused to instruct the jury as to his right the possibility of accident. CP 36-38; RE 19; T. 159. The trial court compounded its error by refusing to use the proper legal standard in evaluation of Mr. Babb's proposed jury instructions.

It was error to refuse the submission by Mr. Babb of a lesser offense instruction on simple assault against a law enforcement officer, Instruction D-7 and D-8, as an adequate evidentiary basis existed in the record through testimony of the officers.

"[A] lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge – and ultimately this Court – can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge."

Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1985). In Harper, the trial court reversed a

conviction of burglary of an occupied dwelling for failure to submit the lesser included offense instruction of trespass, even though it found "unassailable" on appellate review the jury finding of Harper's breaking with the "intent to commit some crime therein." *Id.*, at 1020. The jury's finding, however, did not conflict with the fact that jury could have rationally found otherwise because Harper testified he had no intent to commit a crime upon entering the home of his exwife. From his testimony alone, the jury could reasonably have found he only committed trespass, thus entitling him to the requested instruction. *Id*.

In *Taylor v. State*, 577 So.2d 381 (Miss. 1991) it was also error to deny the accused a simple assault instruction, when the state requested and was granted an instruction on aggravated assault as a lesser included offense of rape. Taylor punched his former girlfriend so severely in the face and head that she spent four days in the hospital and appeared to have sustained nerve damage. *Id.*, at 383. Nevertheless, it was held reversible error to reject Taylor's request for a simple assault instruction. "Where [sic] the defendant requests a lesser-included offense instruction, one factor to be considered is the disparity in maximum punishments between the offenses. A great disparity is a factor in favor of giving the lesser included offense instruction." *Taylor*, quoting *Boyd v. State*, 557 So.2d 1178, 1181 (Miss. 1989).

In this case, Mr. Babb would respectfully submit adequate evidence was adduced to support a simple assault against a law enforcement officer instruction, facts that also support Mr. Babb's assertion regarding his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in Issue III. Sgt. Butler testified the cut he received came from the tip end of the back side of the blade as Butler was retreating, as though it were an accident. T. 112. Even Butler himself described the injury as more a scrape than a cut. T. 111. And, it is certainly conceivable Mr. Babb may not have even been able to clearly see where Butler and Dennis were in the trailer after the pepper spray. When

Lt. Maldonado appeared on the scene shortly thereafter, he testified as the fact that eyes of everyone in the trailer were watery from the earlier pepper spray by Dennis. T. 135.

Considering the disparity in sentencing alternatives, Mr. Babb received the maximum sentence for Counts I and II: Two thirty (30) years terms for Counts I and II as opposed to a five (5) year term for Count III. The only "leniency" the trial court showed was to order all sentences to be served concurrently, rather than consecutively. The maximum sentence for conviction of simple assault against a law enforcement officer under MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-7(1) (1972) is five (5) years. The maximum sentence for aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer is thirty (30) years, MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-7(2) (1972), a disparity of twenty-five-years.

As in *Harper* and *Taylor*, there existed a more than adequate evidentiary basis for the giving of a simple assault instruction based on the testimony of Sgt. Butler. In addition, there is a great disparity between a five-year prison term and one for thirty years. The trial court abused its discretion in denial of the simple assault instruction Mr. Babb sought.

Denial of Mr. Babb's theory of defense instructions (No. II)

Mr. Babb submits the same standard the Court enunciated in *Harper* is applicable to the trial court's failure to grant an instruction governing his theory of defense. That the trial court failed to understand the correct standard is found in the record, when defense counsel argued for the giving of Instruction D-9, regarding accident. CP 39; RE 19; T.159. In response, the trial court declared there was no <u>affirmative</u> evidence before the court that the injury to Sgt. Butler was accidental, a clear showing the trial court fails to understand the correct legal standard by which Mississippi courts evaluate jury instructions sought by defendants. T. 160. Just as important is the fact that case law interpreting federal constitutional guarantees provides that so long as some evidentiary basis exists for the giving of an instruction, a defendant must be permitted "a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476

U.S. 683 at 689-690 (1986). The Mississippi Supreme Court has found that as due process of law "requires a criminal defendant be allowed the opportunity to defend himself." *Hentz v. State*, 542 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1989).

In this case, Mr. Babb sought to assert the defense of accident through Instruction D-9, which reads as follows: CP 39; RE 19; T. 159.

"The Court instructs the jury that in order to find Johnny Robert Babb [guilty] of aggravated assault on a law enforcement office [sic], the jury must find, from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he acted intentionally. If the State has not proven to you from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that he acted intentionally, then his actions were accidental and you should find Johnny Robert Babb not guilty."

From Sgt. Butler's testimony, the jury could easily have inferred that the "scrape" he incurred was an accident. Butler clearly testified that it appeared his cut came from the tip of the back blade of the knife. T.112. The cut occurred *after* deputies entered, *after* deputies sprayed Mace in the face of Mr. Babb and his five-year-old child. T.124. While the record does not reflect what time Lt. Maldonado arrived on the scene, his testimony was clear. The eyes of everyone in the Babbs' trailer were watery from the earlier pepper spray. T. 135. Mr. Babb was highly agitated, a fact which appears through testimony throughout this brief record.

True, there was no *affirmative* showing of accident, but clearly from the testimony the jury could have easily inferred that this was accidental, rather than intentional. The issue of accident was covered no where else in the instructions. Thus Mr. Babb was deprived of his fundamental right to present his theory of defense through jury instructions for which an adequate evidentiary basis existed.

III. The evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to support the jury verdict of aggravated assault against a law enforcement officer.

In evaluation of whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction in the face of a motion for directed verdict at the close of the prosecution's case and motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, "the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that *every element of the offense existed*; and where the evidence fails to meet this test, it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So.2d 731, 736; ¶ 17 (Miss. 2005) (internal citations omitted).

Under MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-7(2) (1972), prosecutors were required to prove Mr.

Babb attempted to cause or purposely or knowingly cause bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm.

Mr. Babb respectfully argues the state failed to prove he caused bodily injury with a deadly weapon to either Sgt. Butler or Deputy Dennis "purposely or knowingly," an essential element of the crime. Deputy Dennis did not testify at trial; nor did Deputy Deborah Bailey who was also present on the scene. The prosecutor explained in opening statements that Dennis would not appear because he was now living Georgia.

The testimony by Sgt. Butler, the only one of the three first on the scene to testify, is as susceptible to an inference of accident as it is to intent. Butler described the injury as more of a scrape; that he believed the cut occurred with the tip of the back of the blade. T.112. Again, as noted above, it was Deputy Dennis who had sprayed Mr. Babb in the face with Mace, a caustic substance, upon the deputies' entrance into his home. T. 124. It is unclear from the record whether Mr. Babb could see clearly; it is series of events completely capable of supporting an inference of accident or merely trying to ward away additional attacks by the armed deputies.

In the case of *Wade v. State*, 748 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2000), the Mississippi Supreme Court held the prosecution failed to establish the accident had the malicious intent necessary to meet that essential element of murder. The evidence did, however, support a finding of heat of passion manslaughter and so the Court used the "direct remand" rule to send the case back to the lower court for re-sentencing for the lesser crime of manslaughter.

Mr. Babb submits that such a situation may obtain here. The evidence was insufficient to sustain the element of intentional infliction of the injury upon either Sgt. Butler or Deputy Dennis, but could certainly fulfill the essential elements of simple assault under MISS. CODE ANN. 97-3-7(1) 91972).

Therefore, Mr. Babb respectfully seeks reversal of his conviction on this assignment of error and either remand for a new trial or remand for re-sentencing for simple assault of a law enforcement officer on Counts I and II.

CONCLUSION

Counsel for Mr. Babb respectfully submits the trial court abused its discretion in refusing jury instructions D-7, D-8 and D-9, primarily by failing to use the proper legal standard in evaluating his requested instructions. Furthermore, the trial court's refusal to give Instruction D-9 essentially denied to Mr. Babb his right to present to the jury his theory of defense, that the act was not done intentionally or purposefully, but accidentally. Finally, Mr. Babb humbly contends that the prosecution failed to adduce evidence of sufficient quality to undergird its verdict that he intentionally sought to inflict bodily injury upon either Sgt. Butler or Deputy Dennis.

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