IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

JOHNNY ROBERT BABB

AUG 2 0 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS **APPELLANT**

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-2105-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. and II. The trial judge did not err in denying jury instructions D-7, D-8, and D-9 because they either lacked evidentiary support or the legal principles stated therein were adequately covered by other instructions.
- III. The evidence proffered by the State was legally sufficient to support findings by a reasonable and fairminded juror that Babb was guilty of aggravated assault against Sergeant Butler (Count I) and Deputy Dennis (Count II).

With respect to Butler, who was cut with a knife, "the prosecution must simply show that the blow itself was purposely inflicted and that the requisite bodily injury resulted." **Griffin v. State**, 872 So.2d 90, 91 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

Finally, Babb's overt acts of "slashing" and "jigging" were certainly sufficient to prove an attempt to cause bodily injury to Deputy Dennis.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT JURY INSTRUCTIONS D-7 AND D-8, BOTH LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTIONS AUTHORIZING THE JURY TO FIND BABB GUILTY OF SIMPLE ASSAULT. THEY LACKED EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

II.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING JURY INSTRUCTION D-9, AN INSTRUCTION AUTHORIZING THE JURY TO ACQUIT IF IT FOUND THAT BABB'S ACTIONS WERE UNINTENTIONAL. THE LEGAL PRINCIPLES IN D-9 WERE ADEQUATELY COVERED IN C-7.

D-9 ALSO LACKED EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

Babb contends the trial judge erred in refusing jury instructions D-7 and D-8 authorizing the jury to find him guilty of the lesser included offense of simple assault against Deputy Butler charged in Count I of the indictment. (C.P. at 37-38)

Babb also claims the judge erred in denying jury instruction D-9 which would have allowed the jury to find the injury to Butler was unintentional and that "... his actions were accidental." (C.P. at 39)

With respect to Counts II and III charging aggravated assaults against Deputy Dennis and Lt. Maldonado, Babb received a jury instruction authorizing the jury to find him guilty of simple assault, a lesser-included offense.

Jury instructions must be supported by the evidence. **Killen v. State,** 958 So.2d 172 (Miss. 2007), reh denied.

Whether or not a lesser included offense instruction should be given turns on whether or not there exists an evidentiary basis for it. **Ramsay v. State,** 959 So.2d 15 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006). A trial

court should not grant a lesser included offense instruction if no reasonable and fairminded juror could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense and ultimately not guilty of at least one element of the principal offense. **Booze v. State,** 964 So.2d 1218 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

We agree with Judge DeLaughter that D-7, D-8, and D-9 lacked evidentiary support.

Moreover the legal principles contained in D-9 were covered in C-7.

Instructions D-7 and D-8.

Although Babb neither testified nor produced a single witness in his defense, he argues on appeal there was an adequate basis for the granting of D-7 and D-8 based upon the testimony of the officers alone. (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 7)

We disagree.

The trial judge granted jury instruction C-7 which he described at trial as "... an attempt by the Court to combine S-1 with one of the submitted defense instructions asking for a lesser included offense instruction concerning simple assault [a]nd I felt that lesser alternative is justified by the evidence as to counts two and three but not one." (R. 157-58)

Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(b) reads, in its relevant parts, as follows:

(2) A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; * * * However, a person convicted of aggravated assault (a) upon a . . . law enforcement officer . . . while such . . . law enforcement officer . . . is acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, . . . shall be punished by a fine of not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) or by imprisonment for not more than thirty (30) years, or both.

D-7 was properly refused because it ignores the undisputed evidentiary fact that a

deadly weapon was used to inflict the injury. Because a deadly weapon was used, Babb was guilty of aggravated assault even if he "...knowingly or purposely injured or attempted to cause [mere] bodily injury to Lynn Butler." **Crawford v. State,** Cause Number 2006-KA-01871 decided January 8, 2008 (¶6), slip opinion at 3 [Not Yet Reported] citing **Jackson v. State,** 594 So.2d 20, 24 (Miss. 1992); **Anthony v. State,** 349 So.2d 1066, 1067 (Miss. 1977).

No reasonable and fairminded juror could have found that the injury to Deputy Butler, however slight, was inflicted by means other than the use of a deadly weapon, namely, a knife.

D-8 was properly refused because it lacked evidentiary support. No reasonable and fairminded juror could have found from the evidence that Babb "recklessly" or "negligently" put the knife in motion thereby causing injury to Butler. These two theories are simply inconsistent with the evidentiary facts.

Instruction D-9.

Jury instruction D-9, which was refused (C.P. at 38), would have authorized the jury to acquit Babb of aggravated assault if it found his act(s) resulting in the injury to Butler were unintentional. It presupposes that if the State failed to prove Babb "acted intentionally," then Babb's actions were accidental. (C.P. at 39)

As stated previously, the defendant did not testify and called no witnesses in his defense. Accordingly, there is simply no evidence from which a reasonable and fairminded juror could find that Babb acted unintentionally. Nothing in the record suggests he didn't mean to brandish a knife. No reasonable, fairminded juror could have inferred from the testimony of the officers alone the "slashing" and "jigging" described by the officers was unintentional.

The trial judge, in effect, refused D-9 because it lacked evidentiary support and

because the basic principle stated therein was adequately covered by other instructions. We quote:

MR. LABARRE: Judge, I felt that D-9 dealing with whether or not it was an intentional act or if it was accidental, I think could be - - as far as the actual striking of Officer Butler on the neck, I know that, you know, there was testimony otherwise, but the actual touching of the knife to the neck could have been accidental. I felt that was appropriate.

THE COURT: Well, I didn't - - the Court doesn't have any affirmative evidence before it that it was accidental. But the Court was still of the opinion that you can certainly argue that. And C-7 clearly indicates that a conviction must be predicated upon a unanimous finding by the jury of a willful, purposeful and knowing act.

MR. LABARRE: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And that if any of these elements are not proven to their satisfaction beyond a reasonable doubt, the, they are to find the defendant not guilty.

So the court is of the opinion that the element that you wish to argue is before the jury in the jury instructions. (R. 160-61) [emphasis ours]

We concur.

The denial of D-9 was not error because the gist of D-9 was adequately covered in the trial court's C-7 which required the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Babb caused bodily injury "willfully, unlawfully, purposely, and knowingly." (C.P. at 21-24)

"An act 'willfully' done is an act 'knowingly' and 'intentionally' done." **Boyd v. State,** 977 So.2d 329, 335 (Miss. 2008), citing **Moore v. State,** 676 So.2d 244, 246 (Miss. 1996). *See also* **Perrett v. Johnson,** 253 Miss. 194, 175 So.2d 497 (1965); **Ousley v. State,** 154 Miss. 451, 122 So. 731 (1929).

Stated differently, "willful" means intentionally doing the act.

Therefore, accepting as true Babb's argument that "... the jury could have easily inferred that this was accidental, rather than intentional" (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 10), there was no existing impediment to a jury embracing that inference.

A trial judge is not required to instruct the jury over and over on a principle of law, even though some variations are used in the different instructions. Calhoun v. State, 526 So.2d 531 (Miss. 1988); Davis v. State, 431 So.2d 468 (Miss. 1983); McWilliams v. State, 338 So.2d 804 (Miss. 1976); Stated differently, "[t]he trial court is not required to grant several instructions on the same question in a different verbiage . . ." Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 991 (Miss. 1980); Ragan v. State, 318 So.2d 879, 882 (Miss. 1975). Where the gist of an instruction is included in another instruction, the charge is duplicitous and the court is correct in refusing it. Evans v. State, 315 So.2d 1 (Miss. 1975).

"It is a familiar rule that instructions must be taken as one body, and announce the law, not the law of the State or the defendant, but the law of the case." **Sample v. State,** 320 So.2d 801, 805 (Miss. 1975). Stated differently, "[i]nstructions granted both the state and the accused are to be read together. When considered together, if the instructions adequately instruct the jury there is no reversible error present." **Rush v. State,** 278 So.2d 456, 458 (Miss. 1973). *See also* **Wilson v. State,** 592 So.2d 993 (Miss. 1991) [Jury instructions are reviewed as a whole and not individually.] When the totality of the jury instructions given to the jury are considered as a whole and this Court cannot say that the jury was misled by the granting of any or all of them, no error ensues. **Maroone v. State,** 317 So.2d 25, 27 (Miss. 1975); **Shannon v. State,** 321 So.2d 1 (Miss. 1975); **Rayburn v. State,** 312 So.2d 454 (Miss. 1975).

Babb makes much to do over Judge DeLaughter's statement that "... the Court doesn't have any affirmative evidence before it that it was accidental." (R. 160) Babb claims the trial judge applied an erroneous standard in denying D-9. (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 9)

We do not share this concern. Babb, as stated previously, neither testified nor produced any witnesses in his defense. Judge DeLaughter simply meant that D-9 lacked evidentiary support. We agree because no reasonable and fairminded juror could have found from Babb's words, acts, and deeds testified about by the officers that the brandishing of a knife which resulted in the cut to Butler's neck, whether from the tip end of the back side of the blade or from the sharp side, was unintentional and the wound accidentally inflicted. We simply disagree with Babb's claim that "... the jury could have easily inferred that this was accidental, rather than intentional." (Brief on the Merits by Appellant at 10) But even if we are wrong, instruction C-7, as stated, allowed the jury to make this inference.

The posture of Babb's complaint targeting the denial of D-7 and D-8 is controlled by the following cases: **Booze v. State,** *supra,* 964 So.2d 1218 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007); **Lackie v. State,** 971 So.2d 601 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007); **Ramsey v. State,** *supra,* 959 So.2d 15 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), reh denied, cert denied; **Divine v. State,** 947 So.2d 1017 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007); **Odom v. State,** 767 So.2d 242 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *Cf.* **Silas v. State,** 847 So.2d 899, 902 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) ["There is simply no evidentiary foundation for the granting of a petit larceny instruction."]

Our legal analysis continues with the general and well-recognized rule of law that "[i]nstructions should be given only if they are applicable to the facts developed in the case being tried." **Pittman v. State**, 297 So.2d 888, 893 (Miss. 1974). In other words, before a

jury instruction may be granted, there must be an evidentiary basis in the record for such. Gray v. State, 472 So.2d 409, 417 (Miss. 1985); Fairchild v. State, 459 So.2d 793, 800 (Miss. 1984). Instructions which, as here, are *inconsistent* with the evidentiary facts of the case should not be given. Norman v. State, 385 So.2d 1298, 1301 (Miss. 1980), and the cases cited therein.

A jury instruction must be supported by the evidence.

In Gangl v. State, 539 So.2d 132, 136 (Miss. 1989), this Court discussed the rule applicable to both lesser offense instructions and lesser included offense instructions. We quote:

Of course, lesser offense instructions should not be granted indiscriminately, and only where there is an evidentiary basis in the record. *Harper v. State*, 478 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1985); *Lee v. State*, 469 So.3d 1225, 1230 (Miss. 1985). The evidentiary standard is the same as for lesser included offense instructions, and is laid out in *Harper v. State*, *supra*, at 1021. Consequently, where as in the instant case, the evidence warrants it, the accused is entitled as a matter of right, upon proper request, to a lesser offense instruction the same as he would be entitled to a lesser included offense instruction. *Griffin v. State, supra*.

The following language found in **Lackie v. State**, *supra*, 971 So.2d 601, 606 (¶¶ 23-24) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), an appeal from a conviction of aggravated assault, is also relevant here:

Lackie finally claims that he was entitled to a jury instruction for simple assault. We disagree. It is well settled that a lesser-included offense instruction is required only 'where a reasonable juror could not on the evidence exclude the lesser-included offense beyond a reasonable doubt.' *Mackbee v. State*, 575 So.2 16, 23 (Miss. 1990). Whether a lesser offense instruction should be given turns on whether there exists an evidentiary basis for it. *Hutchinson v. State*, 594 So.2d 17, 20 (Miss. 1992).

Section 97-3-7 of the Mississippi Code Annotated provides for both simple and aggravated assault:

- (1) A person is guilty of simple assault if he attempts to cause or purposely, knowingly or recklessly causes bodily injury to another, or (b) negligently causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; or (c) attempts by physical menace to put another in fear of imminent serious bodily harm; . . .
- (2) A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he (a) attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm

The maximum sentence for simple assault is six months in the county jail; for aggravated assault, it is not more than one year in the county jail or twenty years in the penitentiary.

"Disparity in maximum punishment," even if a factor, does not outweigh the fact that, as to Butler, simple assault instructions were not supported by the evidence.

Babb, on the other hand, did receive simple assault instructions with respect to his actions against Deputy Dennis and Lieutenant Maldonado. (C.P. at 22-24) The jury subsequently found Babb guilty of simple assault against Maldonado but not Dennis. (C.P. at 41-42) The test for determining when a lesser included offense instruction should be given is also set forth in **Harper v. State**, 478 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1985), where this Court stated:

[A] lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge - and ultimately this Court - can say,

taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge.)

See also **Woodham v. State**, 779 So.2d 158, 163 (¶¶ 24, 25) (Miss. 2001), where several jury instructions requested by the defendant "... did not have a proper evidentiary foundation in the facts of the present case."

Babb, we note, also cites **Harper**, a direct appeal from a conviction of dwelling house burglary. Babb relies upon the right test but reaches the wrong conclusion. Harper, testified in his own behalf and presented a viable alternative explanation for his presence in the house while Babb did not testify at all.

The question presented within the factual context of the case at bar is whether or not a reasonable, fairminded, hypothetical juror could have, on the facts and favorable inferences presented, found that Babb was guilty of simple assault against Butler, i.e., mere bodily injury sans weapon (D-7) or injury "recklessly" or "negligently" inflicted (D-8), as opposed to aggravated assault.

We think not.

In answering these inquiries, we keep firmly in mind that "... a lesser-included offense instruction should never be granted on the basis of pure speculation." **Fairchild v. State**, *supra*, 459 So.2d at 801. Indeed, the "[u]nwarranted submission of a lesser offense is an invitation to the jury to disregard the law." **Presley v. State**, 321 So.2d 309, 311 (Miss. 1975).

Accordingly, "... such an instruction should not be indiscriminately or automatically

given, . . . but should only be given after the trial court has carefully considered the evidence and is of the opinion that such an instruction is justified by the evidence." **Jackson v. State**, 337 So.2d 1242, 1255 (Miss. 1976). *See also* **Gangl v. State**, *supra*, 539 So.2d 132, 136 (Miss. 1989).

No reasonable, fairminded, hypothetical juror could have found that Babb did not brandish a knife and attempt to cause bodily injury to Butler (D-7) or cause injury to Butler "recklessly" or "negligently" (D-8).)

D-9, as noted previously, was covered by instruction number 5 (C-7). (C.P. at 21-24)

The bottom line is that the trial judge correctly refused instructions D-7, D-8, and D-9 because they either lacked evidentiary support or the legal principles stated therein were adequately covered by other instructions.

III.

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